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September 17, 2024

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

The Honorable Xavier Becerra

Secretary

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
200 Independence Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20201

Dear Secretary Becerra:

I write concerning the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services’ (CMS) decision to rebid the
call centers contract for 1-800-MEDICARE and the Affordable Care Act. Private contractor
Maximus has run these call centers since 2013, initially as a subcontractor and as prime
contractor after 2018.

Capitol Bridge Health Services, a small minority-owned company in Bogalusa, Louisiana,
operates the Maximus call center under subcontract. It employs approximately 650 workers and
pays more than 250 percent of the minimum wage. These jobs are likely to disappear if Maximus
loses the contract.

Maximus was awarded a new, nine-year contract in 2022.! Despite some of the highest customer
satisfaction scores in the federal government, CMS has decided to solicit a new call center
contract only two years into the Maximus contract—this time, requiring a “labor harmony
agreement” (LHA).

CMS argues that the decision to rebid the contract is necessary to ensure that labor disputes will
not disrupt call-center operations. It is not apparent that LHAs have ever been used in any federal
service contracts. Moreover, Maximus has not experienced any work stoppages—only five brief
demonstrations since 2018, with participation from fewer than one percent of the Maximus
workforce (and some were union-paid employees, or “salts”). Even during the pandemic,

! The $6.6 billion contract is renewable annually for nine years.
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hurricanes, and other natural disasters when as many as four locations were closed, there was no
deterioration of service to callers.

Given the high consumer ratings of Maximus’ performance, it appears that there is no reason to
rebid this contract except to force unionization on the call-center employees. Seniors and others
who depend on the call centers for help with Medicare and health insurance may receive lower
levels of service if union demands make call centers less flexible. Taxpayers will bear the costs
of rebidding the contract.

Please answer the following questions no later than October 1, 2024:

1.

(98]

How much will rebidding this contract cost the taxpayers? Please include CMS and other
government employees’ time.
Aside from including a Labor Harmony Agreement, what is the operational justification
for rebidding the contract?
What is the legal justification for rebidding the contract?
Have Labor Harmony Agreements been used in any other federal service contracts?
a. If so, please specify and provide the dates of any applicable contracts.
The Federal Acquisition Regulation requires the federal government to remain impartial
and not intervene in labor-management relations. Please explain how requiring a federal
contractor to enter into a Labor Harmony Agreement serves this purpose.
The Communications Workers of America (CWA) has been unsuccessful in organizing
Maximus call centers despite repeated attempts.
a. Has CWA had any communications with CMS concerning Maximus? If so, please
provide dates, details of conversations, and copies of written communications.
b. Please explain why imposing a Labor Harmony Agreement is necessary to
enhance service to seniors and others who rely on the call centers for help with
their health care.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

g;// 61119/67, M.0,

Bill Cassidy, M.D.

Ranking Member

Senate Committee on Health, Education,
Labor, and Pensions
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